
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Tuesday, 1 
February 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Gravesham Tourism and Heritage Strategy (Pages 9 - 16)

6. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

GYG Hate Crime Presentation 
 

7. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 



included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the 
nature of business to be transacted that if members of the public 
are present during those items, there would be disclosure to them 
of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private 

8. Strategic Assessment 2021 - Summary of Key Findings (Pages 17 - 32)

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Gurjit Kaur Bains
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Emma Morley
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Thursday, 11 November 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Christina Rolles
Emma Morley
Peter Scollard

Simon Hookway
Anita Tysoe
Kirsty Gaunt

Assistant Director (Communities)
Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services)
Community Involvement Officer

Adrian Hickmott
Danielle Lock

Leisure & Resilience Manager
Sport & Recreation Officer

Jackie Denton Customer Services Manager (Minutes)

15. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gurjit Kaur Bains and Cllr Derek Ashenden 
attended as her substitute. 

The Chair asked that thanks be recorded to Danielle Lock together with Gravesham Youth 
Council, The Grand and Gifted Young Generation for organising the Youth Climate Change 
Conference held in the Kent Room yesterday. Discussions were held around the global 
climate threat and the young people were given an opportunity to shape GBC’s Net Zero 
strategy. It is hoped that conversations will continue and their questions will be answered. 
Cllr Dakota Dibben attended and was very welcome. It was a wonderful event and the 
energy and enthusiasm in the room was infectious.                                                                                                                                 

16. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 14 September 2021 were signed by the Chair.

17. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an interest in agenda item 9. Corporate Performance 
Report: Quarter Two 2021-22 as he is a council appointee on Gravesham Community 
Leisure Limited (GCLL) and The Grand CIC.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 11.11.2021

2

18. Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme 

The Assistant Director (Communities) presented this report to provide an overview of the 
council’s major outdoor and town centre events programme during 2021.

It has been a year like no other and the report shows the changes we have had to make due 
to restrictions. 

Last Friday the fireworks event returned and it was a huge success with 17000 spectators. 
Questions were asked about Police attendance at the event and the Committee was 
informed that they were aware of the event via the Safety Advisory Group. 

Members made the following comments:
 The firework event was extremely well run but there was concern with the number of 

people as it was very crowded. There were no problems but there could have been
 It should have been classed as a special event for the emergency services so they 

are on special notice in the event of an incident and the mobile phone networks are 
notified that there is a large number of people in that particular vicinity. This was 
noted for next year

Today we had the Remembrance Service on the Community Square, with Remembrance 
Sunday events planned for 14 November. On 21 January 2022 we will have the annual 
General Gordon Memorial Service in Gordon Gardens. There will also be a number of 
celebrations in June 2022 to celebrate the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee.

Members noted the information contained within the report.

19. Summer Fun Programme 2021 

The Sport & Recreation Officer presented this report to update on the outcome of the 
Summer Fun Programme.

It was good to be out delivering events in the community again this summer and officers 
were feeling rejuvenated. They had to follow ever-changing Covid restrictions so delivered a 
smaller scale programme between July and September 2021. Fewer activities were provided 
at each site but the number of sites across the borough were increased. Attendance at 
Woodlands Park and Camer Park were lower than previous years with Woodlands Park and 
Wombwell Park activities being affected by inclement weather.

An event has never taken place before at Rosherville Open Space but it was very well 
attended and it is hoped it can be replicated in future years. Worked closely with Big Local 
around Northfleet Primal Roots.

Numbers were down on the usual programme but that is to be expected with Covid 
restrictions but people from all the sites were saying how pleased they were that something 
had been organised for the children.

The Chair thanked the team for the diversity of activities and for spreading them out across 
the borough and coping with restrictions at the time. It has allowed us to tap into different 
markets and have some localised events which are beneficial. 

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 11.11.2021

3

Members noted the information contained within the report.

20. Community Engagement Events & Activities 2021 

The Community Involvement Officer gave an overview of the community engagement events 
and activities during 2021.

At the beginning of the year we were deep in lockdown and so recognised a number of 
occasions by flying the relevant flag and sharing on social media such as the Trust flag on 
Holocaust Memorial Day in January; The Pride flag was raised for LGBTQI History month in 
February; the Commonwealth flag in March; the Roma flag for International Roma day in 
April; the Vaisakhi flag in April; the Eid flag in May, the Pride flag for Pride month in June; the 
Armed Forces Day flag in June and the Roma flag for Roma Holocaust in August.

There has been a large increase in volunteer litter pickers since the pandemic began and 16 
group litter picks took place as part of the Great British Spring Clean.

Heading into summer we delivered the Windrush Day Project by having a range of events at 
St. Andrew’s Quayside and Art Centre and in the market. It was the first outdoor event held 
this summer and people were excited to have music and live entertainment. Gravesham 
Pride CIC ran their first ever Pride event in Fort Gardens to a maximum audience and had 
good weather.

The Mayor’s Boundary Walk was able to take place again this year in October and raised a 
significant amount of money for charity.

Inter-Faith Week runs from 13 to 17 November and the North Kent Interfaith Network have 
organised a walk.

The Chair advised that he had received a number of positive comments about Gravesham 
Pride in that Gravesham feels like a safe place for some people for the first time. They have 
asked for a parade next year to show solidarity and celebrate the diversity of the town.

Following questions from the Committee, the Community Involvement Officer responded:

 With regard to litter picking, it is very much part of my role to work closely with the 
Street Champions and this has grown over the last year and we are looking to 
develop the role of volunteers

 Looking to recognise the work of the Street Champions during National Volunteer 
Week in the spring

Members have seen a determination from officers to get things going again and making a 
good job of doing that and we look forward to the Christmas events. Officers should be 
congratulated on bringing us back to normal

Members noted the information contained within the report.

21. Christmas Programme 2021 

The Assistant Director (Communities) provided an overview of the Christmas programme 
planned for the town centre in 2021.

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 11.11.2021

4

The Christmas programme begins a week tomorrow with the light switch-on. Lots of 
Christmas events are taking place in the market to increase footfall. There will be 
workshops, a number of Christmas markets and a pop-up cinema showing Home Alone and 
Elf. On Saturday, 11 December we will have Nativity Live. The camels will appear on the 
Community Square at 11am and the parade will start at mid-day. Working with village 
locations, Meopham Vineyard and Gravesham Churches Together to produce a film of the 
nativity story but also taking the opportunity to include attractions from around the borough. 
There will be a Santa trail and a Santa Selfie Experience. The panto is taking bookings for 
Robin Hood from 3 December to 3 January 2022.

The Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) is leading on the winter lights 
project and there will be a number of creative lighting schemes around the town including 
lighting up historic buildings and sculptures.

The Christmas programme is publicised in the winter edition of Your Borough, the Visit 
Gravesham website and local media.

The Chair asked that thanks be passed to the Communications Team as the winter edition of 
Your Borough is one of the best we have seen for a very long time, especially the fully 
comprehensive list of events.

Members noted the information contained within the report.

22. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2021-22 

The Committee were provided with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2021-22 (July 
to September 2021).

The Assistant Director (Communities) guided Members through the report and gave a brief 
overview of Policy Commitment.

PI 1 Total number of reported crime offences – These are still lower than they were prior to 
the pandemic. Numbers are coming down on ASB as well. There was an operation around 
the sale of illegal cigarettes and tobaccos in shops in the town centre and some positive 
results were achieved. This was a strong focus on joint working between the CSU, Kent 
Police, HMRC and Trading Standards.

PI 13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken – There has been a focus 
on fly-tipping and there is a headline on the front page of the Kent Messenger around a 
significant fine of £1500 for fly-tipping in Hog Lane which is notorious for fly-tipping. Despite 
vacancies in the team during Q2, a high level of investigatory reports are being undertaken 
which is a significant amount of work and a number are moving towards conviction. 

PI 37 Total number of leisure centre attendees – Leisure Centres are beginning to recover 
post pandemic. Discussion took place around the competition from the number of private 
gyms in the borough and particularly in the town centre and with a gym only offer can 
achieve lower membership and open 24/7. The feeling is that if the Leisure Trust introduced 
a gym only membership it would reduce income. The benefit of the location of the council 
Leisure Centres is they have free parking. An updated report on Leisure Centres by GCLL 
will be brought to the February Committee.

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 11.11.2021

5

PI 41 Community events – We mentioned at the last Committee how during the last year we 
saw an increase in events even though they may have been smaller but additional activity is 
now taking place. 

PI 42 Woodville – Ticket sales were impacted because of closure. We are looking forward to 
the important Christmas period to see how numbers increase in the next quarter.

PI 43 Borough Market footfall – Footfall appeared to dip this quarter but there was an error 
with the footfall counters and so the correct figure may not have been captured.

PI 44 Visitors to Heritage sites – This is an annual indicator. The “Make It” events which are 
free help to drive footfall. The Hope and Glory event in the Fort Gardens didn’t run last year 
but this year was held in September and recorded good visitor numbers, helped by the good 
weather.

The new St. George’s Arts Centre will officially open on 11 December and Members of the 
Committee will receive a personal invite shortly.

Members noted the information contained within the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.16 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 1 February 2022

Reporting officer: Tourism and Town Twinning Manager
Assistant Director (Communities)
 

Subject: Gravesham Tourism and Heritage Strategy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report progress on the delivery of the Tourism and Heritage Strategy's objectives, the 
achievements and challenges of the past year and the aims for the year to come. 

Recommendations:
1. That Members review and comment on progress in delivering the strategy.

1. Delivery of the Tourism and Heritage Strategy’s objective
1.1 Gravesham’s Tourism and Heritage Strategy was reported to the Cabinet 

Committee last February and subsequently adopted by the Cabinet Member for 
Community & Leisure.  Thereafter, the Tourism and Town Twinning Manager 
confirmed an action plan to deliver the objectives set out in the strategy.

2. Research and surveys
2.1 As a response to the Covid-19 pandemic and the inability for the tourism sector to 

operate fully, an opportunity arose via the Interreg Experience Project to carry out 
some research and surveys that would help identify the needs, changes, and 
expectations of tourism businesses, travel trade and visitors alike.

2.2 A Business Needs survey aimed to capture the needs of visitor economy 
businesses in Kent and focuses on identifying training and skills development 
businesses now needed to inform and adapt their product offering.    The survey’s 
recommendations and key findings about North Kent are included as part of the 
report found at – https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63554/business-
needs-survey-report-final.pdf

2.3 A MICE (meeting, incentives, conferences and exhibitions) survey aimed to 
establish what products are in demand from that sector.   This survey’s 
recommendations and key findings were provided as part of the report found at - 
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63556/experience-mice-survey-report-
final.pdf

Page 9 Agenda Item 5

https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63554/business-needs-survey-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63554/business-needs-survey-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63556/experience-mice-survey-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63556/experience-mice-survey-report-final.pdf


2

2.4 A Travel Trade survey aimed to gather insights from domestic and international 
tour operators and travel trade buyers that work primarily in the leisure and 
educational sectors, to establish the type of products that are in demand with their 
clients and what is required in order to work with them.  Its recommendations and 
key findings were provided as part of the report found at – 
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63555/experience-travel-trade-survey-
report-final.pdf 

2.5 Following the Travel Trade and MICE surveys, Travel Trade and Business Events 
Insights took place. It aimed to provide guidance to Kent businesses. 

2.5.1 Some product concepts were selected to give an overview of the 125 
businesses involved in the Experience development programme. The 
products were based around “Food and Drink and Artisans Experiences”, 
“Nature and Well-Being Experiences”, “Photography, Arts and Craft 
Experiences”.

2.5.2 Recommendations and key findings were provided as part of the report 
found at -  https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67326/experience-
b2b-product-concept-testing-report-final.pdf

2.6 Customer Testing Campaign

2.6.1 The campaign was based around 8 themes – Creative Experiences, 
Food and Drink, Health and Well Being, History and Culture, Escape the 
Ordinary, Outdoor Experiences, Off the Beaten Track and Shared 
Experiences. 

2.6.2 The full report is available 
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67325/visit-kent-research-
report-partners-v3-002.pdf

2.7 Resident Surveys
2.7.1 Residents are often overlooked when it comes to local tourism and the 

aim of these surveys was to find more about their thoughts and 
perspective of tourism in the area where they lived.

2.7.2 Two Social Impact Monitoring took place. The first one looking at the 
Summer tourism activity (Wave 1) and the second looking at the Winter 
tourism activity (Wave 2).

2.7.3 Both reports are based on findings from surveys sent out to Kent 
residents, to gather valuable insights into their perceptions of seasonal 
tourism, as well as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on local 
communities.

2.7.4 Full reports of both surveys can be found at 
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63557/interreg-experience-
kent-residents-survey-report-final.pdf

Page 10

https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63555/experience-travel-trade-survey-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63555/experience-travel-trade-survey-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67326/experience-b2b-product-concept-testing-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67326/experience-b2b-product-concept-testing-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67325/visit-kent-research-report-partners-v3-002.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67325/visit-kent-research-report-partners-v3-002.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63557/interreg-experience-kent-residents-survey-report-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/63557/interreg-experience-kent-residents-survey-report-final.pdf


3

https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67308/experience-kent-resident-survey-report-
wave-2-final.pdf

3. What has been achieved so far via the Experience Project

3.1 Gravesham is taking part in the AirDNA study and research to get access to local 
data and get a clearer idea of how many AirBnB properties are on offer in the 
borough.

Page 11

https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67308/experience-kent-resident-survey-report-wave-2-final.pdf
https://www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk/media/67308/experience-kent-resident-survey-report-wave-2-final.pdf


4

3.2 The Gurdwara and St George’s Church have both come on board the Experience 
project and worked with the Tourism Manager and Visit Kent to develop and offer 
new visitor’s products. St George’s Church is working on a “coffee and tour of St 
George’s”, which will see the church open to visitors on a more constant and 
regular basis.

3.3 Local tourism and hospitality businesses have also come on board to develop new 
experiential products and tours.

- 2 New Food and Drink Experiences – “Northfleet and Gravesend Beer Trail” 
(The Iron Pier and The Compass Alehouse) and “Scrumptious Afternoon Tea” 
(The Pantry and Marie’s Tearoom) 

- “White Horse Farm Horse Shires” Experience in Harvel.

- “Mindful Meditation” at Owletts, Cobham.

-  “Meopham Valley Vineyard” Wine tour

-  “ The Panic Room” Battle Masters Axe throwing

3.4 A North Kent Peers working group was created via the Experience Project and 
some networking workshops took place. The aim is to enable Gravesham 
businesses and the Gravesham tourism network to strengthen their co-operative 
working and marketing goals.

3.5 Business and skills training webinars organised in partnership and via Visit Kent, 
Kent AONB and Visit Britain.

3.6 Growth of engagement via the tourism social media channels and implementation 
of online booking via Visit Gravesend Website. The Visitor Information Point is 
proving a key focal point for locals and visitors alike.

3.7 Successful Estuary Festival last summer with a substantial amount of promotion 
via the Visitor Information Point and its social media channels.

3.8 Creation of an AR (Augmented Reality) Town Centre Historic Trail accessible on 
phones via Instagram and Facebook – In Gravesham Footsteps.

3.9 New guided tours and itineraries developed.

3.10 In Partnership with the Kent AONB and the Experience Project, Shorne Woods 
Country Park got some funding to install “Changing Places Toilets”. It is the only 
park/place in Kent with those facilities and it is therefore enhancing its accessibility 
to visitors.

3.11 In Partnership with the Kent AONB, Gravesham Borough Council has offered 
training to its accredited tour guide to develop and conduct guided walks in the 
local countryside.

4. Challenges

4.1 The ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has proven very difficult for the local tourism and 
hospitality sector and engagement has been low at times.

4.2 The Dickens 150 programme of celebrations had to be cancelled.

Page 12



5

4.3 Gad’s Hill Place has not been able to open its doors to visitors and has lost some 
of its volunteers.

4.4 Group tours cancellation (cruise ships tours, cold war bunker tours).

4.5 Drop in domestic and overseas visits, both day visits and overnight stays, 
therefore drop in visitors’ spend in the local area.

5. Upcoming projects

5.1 Work on updating and redeveloping the “Discover Gravesham” website.

5.2 HLF expressions of Interest to help with the maintenance, repair and development 
of some of the borough’s heritage assets.

5.3 The existing hand held historic audio tours are due to be converted into phone 
applications.

5.4 Bespoke guided tours for Cruise ships visitors in May.

5.5 Working with Thames Clippers in the development of fast river services to 
Gravesend, including the promotion of itineraries for visits to the Borough.

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 13



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No implications at this stage

Finance and Value 
for Money 

No additional budget requests at this point in time. Any future budgetary 
requirements will be sought following existing procedures i.e. via a Management 
Team report.

Risk Assessment This report is a positive action to raise the profile of Gravesham as a tourism 
destination and bring economic benefits to the Borough.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place - a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.
Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage:  support local groups and community 
reach and expand the visitor economy

Climate Change The strategy needs to complement the Council’s carbon neutral commitments. 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Digital and website 
implications

Promotion of our key themes and priorities will be delivered through the Visit 
Gravesend website and social media channels. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 17 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Gravesham Tourism and Heritage Strategy
	8 Strategic Assessment 2021 - Summary of Key Findings
	Strategic Assessment 2021 - Summary


